
Finance Committee Agenda

Tuesday, May 13, 2025, 8:30 AM
EXECUTIVE CONFERENCE ROOM - 3RD FLOOR
1 Civic Center Circle
Brea, CA 92821

MEMBERS: Council Member Marty Simonoff and Council Member Steve Vargas

ALTERNATES: Mayor Pro Tem Cecilia Hupp and Council Member Christine Marick

This agenda contains a brief general description of each item the Committee will consider. The Administrative
Services Department has on file copies of written documentation relating to each item of business on this Agenda
available for public inspection.  Contact the Administrative Services Department Office at (714) 990-7684 or view
the Agenda and related materials on the City's website at https://www.ci.brea.ca.us/509/Meeting-Agendas-
Minutes. Materials related to an item on this agenda submitted to the Committee after distribution of the agenda
packet are available for public inspection in the Administrative Services Department's Office at 1 Civic Center Circle,
Brea, CA during normal business hours.  Such documents may also be available on the City's website subject to
staff's ability to post document before the meeting.

Procedures for addressing the Committee

Members of the public may offer comment by phone or email or may observe the meeting by attending in person. 
All requests to offer comment must be submitted via phone by calling (714) 990-7684 or by emailing
debbied@cityofbrea.gov by 12:00 p.m. on the Monday prior to the meeting.

Special Accommodations

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting,
please contact the Administrative Services Office at (714) 990-7684.  Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will
enable City staff to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility. (28 CFR 35.102.35.104 ADA Title II) 

PLEASE SILENCE ALL PAGERS, CELL PHONES AND OTHER ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT WHILE THE COMMITTEE IS IN
SESSION.

1. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL

1A. Attendees

1B. Matters from the Audience

2. CONSENT

2A. Approval of Minutes 04-29-2025

3. DISCUSSION

3A. Acceptance of Final Parcel Map No. 2022-179 for Subdivision at 915, 955, & 975 West Imperial
Highway and 950 Mariner Street

3B. Acceptance of Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113 and Approval of Subdivision Improvement
Agreement and Bonds for the Brea Mall Mixed-Use Project

https://www.ci.brea.ca.us/509/Meeting-Agendas-Minutes
https://www.ci.brea.ca.us/509/Meeting-Agendas-Minutes
mailto:arlenem@cityofbrea.net


4. ADJOURNMENT

Next Scheduled Meeting: Tuesday, May 27, 2025 at 8:30 a.m.

Date Posted: May 8, 2025



CITY of  BREA
 

Communication
May 13, 2025
Item No.  2A.

 
Approval of Minutes 04-29-2025

 

TO PREPARED BY

   

DEPARTMENT HEAD APPROVAL CITY MANAGER APPROVAL

  Kristin Griffin, City Manager

 

 

 

Attachments

Finance Committee-04-29-2025-minutesDraft.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Fpdfs%2Fdrafts%2FFinance-Committee-04-29-2025-minutesdraft.pdf?alt=media&token=bfb57d54-f9c1-4036-8010-b0c1b3264f48
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Fpdfs%2Fdrafts%2FFinance-Committee-04-29-2025-minutesdraft.pdf?alt=media&token=bfb57d54-f9c1-4036-8010-b0c1b3264f48
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Fpdfs%2Fdrafts%2FFinance-Committee-04-29-2025-minutesdraft.pdf?alt=media&token=bfb57d54-f9c1-4036-8010-b0c1b3264f48


** The following document is a draft of the minutes and the not the official approved minutes

**

Minutes for the Finance Committee

1 Civic Center Circle, Brea, CA 92821

April 29, 2025, 8:35 AM - 8:36 AM

1. CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL

1A. Attendees-

Council Member Marty Simonoff, Council Member Steve Vargas, Kristin Griffith, Jason Killebrew, Monica Lo,

Michael Ho, Chief Adam Hawley, Sean Matlock, Ryan Chapman, Alicia Brenner, Matthew Cuevas, Bryan

Hong, and Debbie Duff

1B. Matters from the Audience-

None.

2. CONSENT

2A. Approval Finance Committee Meeting Minutes - April 8, 2025-

The minutes were approved as written.

3. DISCUSSION

3A. Approve Child Abuse Services Operational Agreement with University of California, Irvine-

The Finance Committee reviewed this item and recommended it for City Council action.

3B. Budget Adjustments to the City Operating and Capital Improvement Program Budgets for FY 2023-25-

The Finance Committee reviewed this item and recommended it for City Council action.

3C. Joint Use Agreement Between City of Brea and Southern California Edison for the SR-57 & Lambert

Road Interchange Improvements, CIP 7251-

The Finance Committee reviewed this item and recommended it for City Council action.

3D. Second Amendment to the Waste Disposal Agreement with the County of Orange for Solid Waste

Disposal Services-

The Finance Committee reviewed this item and recommended it for City Council action.

3E. Award Contract with All American Asphalt in the Amount of $2,349,866.00 for the Birch Street Phase 1A

Street Improvements from N. Kraemer Boulevard to Valencia Avenue, CIP 7329-

The Finance Committee reviewed this item and recommended it for City Council action.

4. ADJOURNMENT

Council Member Marty Simonoff adjourned the meeting at 8:36 a.m.



City of Brea

Finance Committee Communication

A. Acceptance of Final Parcel Map No. 2022-179 for Subdivision at 915, 955, & 975 West Imperial Highway and
950 Mariner Street

Meeting

Tuesday, May 13, 2025, 8:30 AM

Agenda Group

DISCUSSION Item: 3A.

TO

Finance Committee Members

FROM

Kristin Griffith, City Manager

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the Finance Committee recommend that the City Council take the following action: 

1. Accept Final Parcel Map No. 2022-179 for 915, 955, & 975 West Imperial Highway and 950 Mariner Street;
and

2. Accept the Subdivision Monument Bond and authorize the City Clerk to release it upon further notification
from the Public Works Department.       

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION

On June 25, 2024, the Planning Commission adopted Resolution No. PC 2024-06 to approve Tentative Parcel Map
No. 2022-179, and to find the Project associated with the Tentative Parcel Map exempt from the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under CEQA Guidelines, for the subdivision of two existing parcels into four
parcels at 915, 955, & 975 West Imperial Highway and 950 Mariner Street.  See Attachment A included herein for a
project Location Map for reference.   Resolution No. PC 2024-06 was approved with Conditions of Approval that
identified requirements that James McGrade (Applicant), on behalf of Healthcare Property Advisors, was required
to complete before project milestones.  

Tentative Parcel Map 2022-179 proposed the subdivision of the two existing parcels into four new parcels, and the
dedication of reciprocal easements for access, parking, and utility easements, on the overall 17.54-acre site
located at 915, 955, & 975 West Imperial Highway and 950 Mariner Street.   The Tentative Parcel Map was for
subdivision purposes only, and no physical building or site modifications were proposed as part of the subdivision. 
That being said, Resolution No. PC 2024-06 included a condition of approval that requires the Applicant to make
public sidewalk improvements along the project perimeter within the adjacent public right-of-way at the time of any
future phased development of the parcels identified on Tentative Parcel Map No. 2022-179.   Currently, no public
improvements are associated with the proposed development or subdivision.

Per the Conditions of Approval from Resolution No. PC 2024-06, the Applicant was required complete the following
items.

Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (CC&Rs)



To provide CC&Rs incorporating a reciprocal access and parking agreement for the parcels included within
the subdivision, for City staff and the City Attorney's approval.  In compliance with this condition of approval,
the Applicant provided the CC&Rs for review, and City staff and the City Attorney have found the document to
conform to the requirements of Resolution No. PC 2024-06. 

Final Parcel Map 

To prepare a Final Map that includes all proposed easement dedications and vacations for the review and
tentative approval of City staff and the County of Orange Surveyor's Office.  In compliance with the Conditions
of Approval for the Project, the Applicant prepared Final Map No. 2022-179 for the review of City staff and the
County of Orange Surveyor's Office.   The County Surveyor's Office has reviewed and approved Final Parcel
Map No. 2022-179 for technical correctness. City staff has determined the Final Parcel Map to conform with
the State Subdivision Map Act, the Tentative Parcel Map, and City ordinances.  See Attachment B for the Final
Parcel Map for reference.

Subdivision Monument Bond 

To submit a monumentation bond to guarantee the setting of the monuments as identified on the Final Map. 
The Applicant has provided a Subdivision Monument Bond for $25,500 to ensure the setting of the property
monuments identified on the Final Parcel Map.   See Attachment C for the Subdivision Monument Bond for
reference.    

SUMMARY/FISCAL IMPACT

In compliance with Conditions of Approval, the Applicant has prepared Final Parcel Map No. 2022-179 for the
Project.   City staff has reviewed the Conditions of Approval outlined in Planning Commission Resolution No. PC
2024-06, and Final Parcel Map No. 2022-179, and has determined that all Conditions of Approval have been
satisfied and that the Final Parcel Map conforms with Tentative Parcel Map No. 2022-179.   Furthermore, the
County and City Engineer has reviewed and approved the Final Parcel Map for technical correctness.  There is no
fiscal impact to the General Fund resulting from the acceptance of the Final Map or the Subdivision Monument
Bond.   Therefore, City staff recommends City Council accept Final Parcel Map No. 2022-179 and the Subdivision
Monument Bond to ensure the setting of the property monuments as identified on the Final Parcel Map.    

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

Kristin Griffith, City Manager
Prepared by: Ryan Chapman, PE, City Engineer
Concurrence: Michael Ho, PE, Director of Public Works  

 

 

Attachments

Attachment A - Location Map.pdf
Attachment B - Final Parcel Map 2022-179.pdf
Attachment C - Subdivision Monument Bond.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20A%20-%20Location%20Map.pdf?alt=media&token=6b2155c7-e5db-42e8-9bb4-2ec855fcc46b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20A%20-%20Location%20Map.pdf?alt=media&token=6b2155c7-e5db-42e8-9bb4-2ec855fcc46b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20A%20-%20Location%20Map.pdf?alt=media&token=6b2155c7-e5db-42e8-9bb4-2ec855fcc46b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20B%20-%20Final%20Parcel%20Map%202022-179.pdf?alt=media&token=b265719a-e00a-4356-b415-391ca11a8adb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20B%20-%20Final%20Parcel%20Map%202022-179.pdf?alt=media&token=b265719a-e00a-4356-b415-391ca11a8adb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20B%20-%20Final%20Parcel%20Map%202022-179.pdf?alt=media&token=b265719a-e00a-4356-b415-391ca11a8adb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20C%20-%20Subdivision%20Monument%20Bond.pdf?alt=media&token=2c2dfcd5-5e1f-45e2-80fc-78d5d7e0d211
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20C%20-%20Subdivision%20Monument%20Bond.pdf?alt=media&token=2c2dfcd5-5e1f-45e2-80fc-78d5d7e0d211
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c48caf6c1d005df866f8%2FAttachment%20C%20-%20Subdivision%20Monument%20Bond.pdf?alt=media&token=2c2dfcd5-5e1f-45e2-80fc-78d5d7e0d211


Attachment A – Location Map 

 

 





















City of Brea

Finance Committee Communication

B. Acceptance of Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113 and Approval of Subdivision Improvement Agreement and
Bonds for the Brea Mall Mixed-Use Project

Meeting

Tuesday, May 13, 2025, 8:30 AM

Agenda Group

DISCUSSION Item: 3B.

TO

Finance Committee Members

FROM

Kristin Griffith, City Manager

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends that the Finance Committee recommend that the City Council take the following action: 

1. Accept Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113 for the Brea Mall Mixed-Use Project;
2. Approve the Subdivision Improvement Agreement and Bonds for Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113 for the Brea

Mall Mixed-Use Project; and
3. Authorize the Mayor to execute the Subdivision Improvement Agreement and authorize the City Manager to

execute any non-monetary amendments and ancillary documents subsequently required to implement the
Subdivision Improvement Agreement.

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION

On May 2, 2023, City Council adopted Resolution No. 2023-024 to certify the Final Environmental Impact Report,
adopted Resolution No. 2023-025 to approve General Plan Amendment No. 2020-01, and adopted Resolution No.
2023-028 approving Conditional Use Permit Nos. 2020-06, 2022-16, 2022-17, and 2022-18, and adopted Resolution
No. 2023-027 approving Precise Development Plan No. 2020-02 to demolish the former Sears Department Store
building, auto center, and adjacent surface parking lot, and develop the Brea Mall Mixed-Use Project.  Additionally,
as part of this item, City Council adopted Resolution No. 2023-026 approving Tentative Parcel Map No. 2022-113 to
reconfigure three parcels into four parcels for the Brea Mall Mixed-Use Project.  See Attachment A included herein
for a project Location Map for reference.  Subsequently on May 16, 2023, City Council adopted Ordinance No. 1237
approving Zone Change No. 2020-01, and adopted Ordinance No. 1236 approving Development Agreement No.
2020-01 for the Brea Mall Mixed-Use Project.   Both Resolution No. 2023-026, regarding the Tentative Parcel Map,
and Ordinance No. 1236, regarding the Development Agreement, were approved with Conditions of Approval and
agreement terms that identified requirements that the Applicant, Simon Property Group, was required to complete
before project milestones.      



Tentative Parcel Map 2022-113 proposed reconfiguring the 15.5-acre site from three parcels into four parcels, and
the dedication of separate easements for public utility purposes, to facilitate the   Brea Mall Mixed-Use Project
(Project) development.   This Project proposed the demolition of a 161,990 square-foot Sears department store
building, the construction of retail and restaurant space totaling approximately 119,415 square feet, the
construction of a five-story, approximately 297,069 square-foot multi-family residential building, the construction of
a two-story, approximately 90,000 square-foot fitness center, a surface parking area, and two outdoor gathering
spaces on the 15.5-acre portion of land within the southwest portion of the overall 74-acre Brea Mall site. 
Proposed public improvements associated with the proposed development included the removal and relocation of
existing underground utility infrastructure within the private property, utility connections to public infrastructure
within S. Randolph Avenue and State College Boulevard, pavement restoration, removal, reconstruction, and
associated signage and striping within S. Randolph Avenue, the installation of communications, video detection
and surveillance, and traffic signal infrastructure modifications within S. Randolph Avenue and State College
Boulevard, and the installation of catch basin inserts with the public right-of-way adjacent to the Project site.     

According to the Conditions of Approval outlined in City Council Resolution No. 2023-026 and Resolution No. 2023-
027, the Applicant, Simon Property Group, was required to prepare a Final Map that included all proposed public
easement dedications and vacations for the review and tentative approval of City staff, and for the review and
tentative approval by the County of Orange Surveyor's Office.  In compliance with the Conditions of Approval for the
Project, the Applicant prepared Final Map No. 2022-113 for the review of City staff and the County of Orange
Surveyor's Office.   The County Surveyor's Office has reviewed and approved Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113 for
technical correctness. City staff has determined the Final Parcel Map to conform with the State Subdivision Map
Act, the Tentative Parcel Map, and City ordinances.  See Attachment B for the Final Parcel Map for reference.

Additionally, the Conditions of Approval required the Applicant to enter into a Subdivision Improvement Agreement
to guarantee the installation and completion of the public improvements by providing bonds for Faithful
Performance and Labor & Materials (Payment).   To implement the aforementioned Condition of Approval, the
Applicant desires to enter into a Subdivision Improvement Agreement and has provided a Performance Bond and a
Payment Bond, both in the amount of $2,375,720, and a Subdivision Monument Bond, for $62,400, to guarantee the
completion of all public improvements and to ensure the setting of the property monuments as identified on the
Final Parcel Map.   See Attachment C for the Subdivision Improvement Agreement and associated bonds for
reference.  This agreement has been reviewed as to form by City staff and the City Attorney. 

SUMMARY/FISCAL IMPACT

In   compliance with Conditions of Approval, the Applicant has prepared Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113 for the
Project.   City staff has reviewed the Conditions of Approval outlined in City Council Resolution No. 2023-026 and
Resolution No. 2023-027, and Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113, and has determined that all Conditions of Approval
have been satisfied and that the Final Parcel Map conforms with Tentative Parcel Map No. 2022-113.  Furthermore,
the County and City Engineer has reviewed and approved the Final Parcel Map for technical correctness.   To
implement Conditions of Approval required on the Project, the Applicant desires to enter into a Subdivision
Improvement Agreement and has provided a Performance Bond and a Payment Bond, both in the amount of
$2,375,720, and a Subdivision Monument Bond, for $62,400, to guarantee the completion of all public
improvements and to ensure the setting of the property monuments as identified on the Final Parcel Map.   The
Subdivision Improvement Agreement has been reviewed as to form by City staff and the City Attorney.  There is no
fiscal impact to the General Fund resulting from accepting the Final Map or approving the Subdivision Improvement
Agreement.  Therefore, City staff recommends that City Council accept Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113 and approve
the Subdivision Improvement Agreement and Bonds for Final Parcel Map No. 2022-113 for the Brea Mall Mixed-
Use Project. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED



Kristin Griffith, City Manager
Prepared by: Ryan Chapman, PE, City Engineer
Concurrence: Michael Ho, PE, Public Works Director 

 

 

Attachments

Attachment A - Location Map.pdf
Attachment B - Final Parcel Map 2022-113.pdf
Attachment C - Subdivision Improvement Agreement.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20A%20-%20Location%20Map.pdf?alt=media&token=dfa7892c-982a-4a26-b302-1b172fefd69d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20A%20-%20Location%20Map.pdf?alt=media&token=dfa7892c-982a-4a26-b302-1b172fefd69d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20A%20-%20Location%20Map.pdf?alt=media&token=dfa7892c-982a-4a26-b302-1b172fefd69d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20B%20-%20Final%20Parcel%20Map%202022-113.pdf?alt=media&token=4f724c24-7589-41fc-abc4-dbaa59659d6e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20B%20-%20Final%20Parcel%20Map%202022-113.pdf?alt=media&token=4f724c24-7589-41fc-abc4-dbaa59659d6e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20B%20-%20Final%20Parcel%20Map%202022-113.pdf?alt=media&token=4f724c24-7589-41fc-abc4-dbaa59659d6e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20C%20-%20Subdivision%20Improvement%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=820711e7-e824-4bfe-b4b4-03b9f212ddce
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20C%20-%20Subdivision%20Improvement%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=820711e7-e824-4bfe-b4b4-03b9f212ddce
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/breaca%2Factions%2F6818c607af6c1d005df869b0%2FAttachment%20C%20-%20Subdivision%20Improvement%20Agreement.pdf?alt=media&token=820711e7-e824-4bfe-b4b4-03b9f212ddce


Attachment A – Location Map 

 

 









































  
 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY 
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
 
City of Brea 
1 Civic Center Cl. 2nd fl. 
Brea, California 92821 
Attn: City Clerk 
 
NO FEE REQUIRED PURSUANT TO: 
Government Code Sections 6103 and 
27383 

 

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER'S USE 
 
 

SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SUBDIVISION REFERENCE DATA 

FINAL PARCEL MAP NO. _____2022-113______ (“Final Map” herein) 

BASED ON TENTATIVE MAP NO. ______2022-113________ 

NAME OR FINAL PARCEL MAP 
NUMBER OF SUBDIVISION:   
  

 
PARCEL MAP _2022-113_(“Subdivision” 
herein) 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF 
SUBDIVIDER(S): 

The Retail Property Trust, a Massachusetts 
business trust 
225 W. Washington St. 
Indianapolis, IN. 46204 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION OF 
APPROVAL NO.: 
 

 
__2023-026__ (“Resolution of Approval” herein) 

IMPROVEMENT PLANS NO.: 

(includes related specifications) 

 

Public Improvements as shown on Tentative 
Parcel Map 2022-113; as shown on all plans 
permitted and approved by the City of Brea 
Public Works Department, Community 
Development Department, and Fire 
Department; as identified within City Council 
Resolution No. 2023-027; and as identified 
within City Council Ordinance No. 1236 and 
Development Agreement No. 2020-01 _ 
(“Improvement Plans” herein) 

 



 -2- 
 

 

ESTIMATED TOTAL COSTS: IMPROVEMENTS  $__2,375,720.00_____ 
 
PAYMENT              $__2,375,720.00_____ 
 
GRADING               $__N/A_____________ 
 
TOTAL:                   $__4,751,440.00_____ 

ESTIMATED MONUMENTATION COST: 
 (to be subject to separate deposit) 

        $__62,400.00________ 

 
FORM OF IMPROVEMENT SECURITY: [X] Corporate surety bonds 

[  ] Deposit of money 
 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF CORPORATE 
SURETY (if applicable): 

 
__Travelers Casualty and Surety_ 

__Company of America________ 

_________________________ 

SURETY BOND NUMBERS (if applicable):  
Improvements: _107969795___ 
 
Payment:  _107969796_______ 
 
Grading: _N/A______________ 
 
Monuments: _107969794_____ 

  

 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF AGREEMENT: 

 
 
 
 
   
(to be inserted by City) 

 
COMPLETION PERIOD: All improvements of Parcel Map _2022-113_(including 
the complete water and sewer system) shall be completed within 365 consecutive days 
from the Effective Date of the Agreement. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

 (i) 
 

1. SUBDIVIDER’S OBLIGATION TO CONSTRUCT IMPROVEMENTS ....................... 1 

2. SOILS TESTING AND REPORT .............................................................................. 3 

3. SPECIFICATIONS FOR IMPROVEMENTS ............................................................. 4 

4. INSPECTION OF WORK AND FINAL ACCEPTANCE ............................................. 5 

5. GUARANTEE AND WARRANTY OF THE IMPROVEMENTS .................................. 5 

6. TIME EXTENSIONS ................................................................................................. 6 

7. IMPROVEMENT SECURITY .................................................................................... 6 

8. REDUCTION OR RELEASE OF IMPROVEMENT SECURITY ................................ 8 

9. INDEMNIFICATION OF CITY BY SUBDIVIDER .................................................... 10 

10. INSURANCE .......................................................................................................... 11 

11. OWNERSHIP OF THE IMPROVEMENTS.............................................................. 17 

12. DEFAULT AND BREACH BY THE SUBDIVIDER AND REMEDIES OF THE CITY18 

13. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES ....................................................................... 19 

14. ASSIGNMENT ........................................................................................................ 19 

15. NOTICES ............................................................................................................... 20 

16. ENTIRE AGREEMENT ........................................................................................... 20 

17. BINDING ON SUCCESSORS …………………………………………………………. 20 
 
18. SEVERABILITY ...................................................................................................... 20 

19. INCORPORATION OF SUBDIVISION REFERENCE DATA AND RECITALS ....... 20 

20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE ………………………........................................... 21 

21. EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AGREEMENT ............................................................ 21 

Signatures 
Faithful Performance Bond 
Payment Bond 
Monument Bond 



 

  
 

THIS SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and 
entered into by and between the City of Brea, a municipal corporation (“City”), and the 
Subdivider whose name and address is set forth above in the Subdivision Reference Data. 

RECITALS 

A.  Subdivider has presented to the City for approval and recordation a Final Map, 
identified above in the Subdivision Reference Data, of a proposed subdivision pursuant to 
the Subdivision Map Act of the State of California and the City’s ordinances and regulations 
relating to the filing, approval and recordation of subdivision maps (collectively referred to 
herein as the “Subdivision Laws”). 

B.  A tentative map of the Subdivision was previously approved by City, subject to 
the Subdivision Laws and to the City’s standard requirements and conditions of approval 
contained in the City Council’s Resolution of Approval, a copy of which is on file in the 
Office of the City Clerk and is incorporated herein by this reference. 

C.  The Subdivision Laws establish, as a condition precedent to the approval of a 
Final Map, that the Subdivider comply with the City Council’s Resolution of Approval and 
either (i) complete, in compliance with City standards, all of the improvements and land 
development work required by the Subdivision Laws and the City Council’s Resolution of 
Approval; or (ii) enter into a secured agreement with the City to complete the Improvements 
and land development work within a period of time specified by the City. 

D.  In consideration of approval of the Final Map for the Subdivision by the City 
Council, Subdivider desires to enter into this Agreement whereby Subdivider promises to 
install and complete, at its sole expense, all public and private improvement work required 
by the City for the proposed Subdivision.  Subdivider has secured this Agreement by 
improvement security required by the Subdivision Laws and approved by the City. 

E.  The Improvement Plans for the construction, installation and completion of the 
Improvements, have been prepared by the Subdivider, approved by the City Engineer, and 
are on file in the office of the City Engineer.  The Improvement Plans are incorporated 
herein by this reference.  Any improvement to be constructed pursuant to the Improvement 
Plans, including public improvements and private street improvements, is hereby referred to 
individually as an “Improvement” and collectively as the “Improvements”. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the approval and recordation by the City 
Council of the Final Map of the Subdivision, Subdivider and City agree as follows: 

1.  SUBDIVIDER’S OBLIGATION TO CONSTRUCT IMPROVEMENTS 

A.  Subdivider shall, at its sole expense, and in compliance with the 
provisions of the Subdivision Laws, the Improvement Plans, all Conditions of the Tentative 
Map approval, all applicable City standards and fees, and in a good and workmanlike 
fashion, furnish, construct, install and guarantee (as set forth in Section 3) the 
Improvements, Grading, and Monumentation, as more specifically described in the 
Tentative Map and in the City Council’s Resolution of Approval relating thereto (collectively, 
the “Improvements”). 



 

 -2- 
 

B.  To the extent necessary to construct the Improvements, as determined by 
the City Engineer, the Subdivider shall acquire and dedicate, or pay the cost of acquisition 
by City of, all rights-of-way, easements and other interests in real property for the 
construction or installation of the Improvements, free and clear of all liens and 
encumbrances.  The Subdivider’s obligations with regard to the acquisition by City of off-site 
rights-of-way, easements and other interests in real property, if any, shall be subject to a 
separate agreement between Subdivider and City. 

C.  Subject to any time extensions granted in accordance with Section 4, 
Subdivider shall complete all Improvements within its respective “Completion Period” 
specified in the Subdivision Reference Data; provided, however, that if the City Engineer 
reasonably determines in good faith that accelerated construction of the Improvements is 
essential in order to protect the public health, welfare and safety, the City Engineer shall 
give Subdivider not less than fifteen (15) business days' prior written notice to commence or 
accelerate installation and construction of such Improvements, or any portion thereof.  The 
notice shall be in writing, and shall describe the work to be done by Subdivider, the time 
within which the work will commence, the period within which the work will be completed 
and identify the reasons that such early commencement is essential in order to protect the 
public health, welfare and safety.  All or any portions of said Improvements may be required 
to be constructed or completed at a specified time, providing the foregoing criteria is met.  If 
the Subdivider objects to the commencement or acceleration of the Improvements as 
specified by the City Engineer, Subdivider may appeal the decision of the City Engineer to 
the City’s Public Works Director whose decision shall be final.  Any such appeal shall be 
filed with the City Clerk within 10 days after receipt by Subdivider of the written notice from 
the City Engineer. 

D.  If the Improvements to be constructed by Subdivider include 
monumentation, such monumentation shall be installed not later than thirty (30) days after 
the City’s acceptance of all other Improvements pursuant to Section 2.  As used herein, 
“monumentation” shall mean the setting of survey monuments and tie points in accordance 
with the Subdivision Laws, and the delivery to the City Engineer of tie notes for said points. 

E.  Subdivider shall, at its sole expense, replace or repair all public 
improvements, public utility facilities, and surveying or subdivision monuments which are 
destroyed or damaged as a result of any work under this Agreement.  Any such 
replacement or repair shall be subject to the approval of the City Engineer. 

F.  In addition to, and separate from, the indemnity obligations contained in 
Section 9 of this Agreement, and without limiting the City’s remedies under general 
construction defect law, Subdivider shall be responsible for the care, repair and 
maintenance of the Improvements and shall bear all risks of loss or damage to the 
Improvements until the latter of the following time periods: (i) the category of Improvements 
is accepted by the City; or (ii) the expiration of the required one-year guarantee and 
warranty period as specified herein; or (iii) the expiration of any applicable period of time 
specified in a development agreement involving the Subdivision or other agreement or 
obligation imposed on the Subdivider. Neither City, nor its officers, agents and employees, 
shall have any liability for any accident, loss or damage to the Improvements prior to their 
completion and acceptance by the City. 



 

 -3- 
 

G.  Subdivider shall, at its sole expense, obtain all necessary permits and 
licenses for the construction and installation of the Improvements, give all necessary 
notices, and pay all fees required by City ordinance or resolution and all taxes required by 
law. 

H.  Not less than seven (7) days prior to commencement of work on the 
Improvements, Subdivider shall give written notice to the City Engineer of the date fixed for 
such commencement of work in order that the City Engineer shall have adequate time to 
schedule all necessary inspections. 

I.  Subdivider shall pay all City fees and costs set forth in the latest fee 
resolution as adopted by the City Council from time to time as required for the development 
of the Subdivision, including but not limited to, the following: 

1.  Building Permit Fees – to be paid at the time of building permit 
issuance; 

2.  Final Map Filing Fee – to be paid at time of filing final map; 

3.  Final Map Plan Check Fees --- to be paid from cash deposit 
established at time of filing final map; 

4.  Final Map Monumentation Fees – to be paid from cash deposit 
established at time of filing final map; 

5.  Plan Check and Review Fees – to be paid from cash deposit 
established at time of filing improvement plans; 

6.  Encroachment Permit Fees – to be paid at time of application for 
encroachment permit; and 

7.  Inspection Fees – to be paid from cash deposit established at time 
of approval of improvement plans. 

J.  Subdivider shall provide City with final Record Drawings of all plans 
developed for the Subdivision, showing all changes and as built conditions as specified in 
the Tentative Parcel Map Conditions of Approval, prior to the acceptance of improvements 
and release of bonds or other security. 

 
  K. If and to the extent required by Labor Code Section 1720, et seq., 
Developer and its contractors shall: (i) pay prevailing wages for all work performed for the 
construction, alteration, demolition, installation, or repair for construction of the 
Improvements required by this Agreement; and (ii) comply with the provisions of Sections 
1773.8, 1775, 1776, 1777.5, 1777.6, and 1813 of the Labor Code 

2.   SOILS TESTING AND REPORT 

A.  Subdivider shall employ and pay for a Soils Engineer acceptable to the 
City Engineer.  The Soils Engineer shall perform soils and materials testing, construction 



 

 -4- 
 

control testing, and interpretation of test results, for the Improvements in accordance with 
the requirements set forth in Improvement Plans and as approved by City. 

B.  The Soils Engineer shall provide City the reports containing the results of 
the testing and the interpretation of the results done in connection with the Improvement 
Plans and this Agreement.  With the last report filed, the Soils Engineer shall include a 
certificate that the testing and interpretation have been done properly in accordance with all 
applicable standards, as approved by the City, and good engineering practices.  All reports 
and the certificates shall be mailed or delivered to City. 

C.  The street portion of the Improvements shall be constructed in 
accordance with the pavement design, and any modification thereto, that is approved by the 
City Engineer. 

3.   SPECIFICATIONS FOR IMPROVEMENTS 

Subdivider shall construct, at Subdivider’s own expense, all of the improvements identified 
in the Resolution of Approval, and the following improvements, in compliance with the 
drawings, plans and specifications set forth below, which drawings, plans and specifications 
are incorporated herein by this reference and made a part of this Agreement as though set 
forth at length herein.: 

A.  Streets, storm drains and monuments described in the Improvement Plans 
on file in the office of the City Engineer. 

B.  Water and sewer systems described in the Improvement Plans. 

C.  Underground utilities, including undergrounding of any existing overhead 
utilities.   

D.  Street lights 

E.  Walls, landscaping and hardscaping 

F.  Traffic signal system improvements 

G.  Signage and striping improvements 

H.  All public improvements as shown on all plans permitted and approved by 
the City of Brea Public Works Department, Community Development Department, and Fire 
Department.   

I.  All improvements within the public right-of-way or within public easement 
areas as described in the Conditions of Approval, identified and included in City Council 
Resolution No. 2023-027.   

J.  All improvements within the public right-of-way or within public easement 
areas as described in Development Agreement No. 2020-01, identified and included in City 
Council Ordinance No. 1236.   



 

 -5- 
 

K.  All improvements within the public right-of-way or within public easement 
areas as shown on Tentative Parcel Map No. 2022-113.      

4.   INSPECTION OF WORK AND FINAL ACCEPTANCE 

A.  Subdivider shall at all times maintain proper facilities and safe access for 
inspection of the Improvements by the City Engineer and other City personnel and 
inspection consultants. 

B.  Upon completion of the work on all or any category of the Improvements, 
the Subdivider may request, in the form of a written letter, a final inspection by the City 
Engineer.  Within ninety (90) days of receipt of the written letter request, the City Engineer 
shall inspect the Improvements and provide written notice to Subdivider of the list of items 
which have been found to be incomplete and the list of items which have been found to be 
complete.  If the City Engineer determines that all or any specified category of the 
Improvements have been completed in accordance with this Agreement and in compliance 
with the Improvement Plans and all applicable City standards, then the City Engineer shall 
acknowledge that determination in a report to the City Council.  If the Improvements that are 
completed are to be dedicated to or owned by the City, the City Engineer’s determination 
shall be submitted to the City Council for final acceptance by the City, unless such power to 
accept has been delegated by the City Council to the City Engineer or some other officer of 
the City, in which case the final acceptance shall be subject to the approval of that specified 
official.  If the Improvements that are completed are to be dedicated to or owned by a public 
entity other than the City, the Subdivider’s written request shall be submitted to the 
applicable public entity or other owner, for final acceptance.  Subdivider shall bear all costs 
of inspection and determination of completeness in accordance with City’s formally adopted 
fees and rates. 

C.  Acceptance of all or any specified category of public Improvements by the 
City Council shall be made upon recommendation of the City Engineer following inspection 
of said public Improvements pursuant to subparagraph B above.  The City Council shall act 
upon the City Engineer’s recommendation that such public Improvements have been 
completed.  Acceptance by the City Council or by the governing body of the entity that is to 
accept dedication or ownership of the public improvements shall not constitute a waiver by 
the City or such other public entity of any defects in the public Improvements. 

5. GUARANTEE AND WARRANTY OF THE IMPROVEMENTS 

A.  If, within a period of one year following acceptance by the City of the last 
of the Improvements, any Improvements or part of any Improvements furnished, installed or 
constructed by the Subdivider, or any of the work performed under this Agreement, fails to 
comply with any requirements of this Agreement, or the Subdivision Laws, or the 
Improvement Plans and related specifications, the Subdivider shall, without delay and 
without cost to the City, repair, replace or reconstruct any defective or otherwise 
unsatisfactory part or parts of the Improvements.  Subdivider’s obligations hereunder shall 
include the repair, replacement or reconstruction of all irrigation systems and all trees, 
shrubs, ground cover and landscaping for such one year period. 



 

 -6- 
 

B.  Should the Subdivider fail or refuse to act promptly or in accordance with 
subparagraph A above, or should the exigencies of the situation require repair, 
replacement, or reconstruction to be undertaken before the Subdivider can be notified and 
can perform the necessary work, then the City may, in its discretion, make the necessary 
repairs or replacements or perform the necessary reconstruction and draw upon the 
Subdivider’s improvement security to reimburse itself for the costs incurred.  If the 
Subdivider’s improvement security does not cover the total cost of such repair, replacement, 
or reconstruction, the Subdivider shall reimburse the City for any excess costs incurred. 

C.  The security furnished for the faithful performance of the Subdivider’s 
obligation to construct and install the Improvements described herein shall include the 
Subdivider’s liability and obligation hereunder to provide the one-year guarantee and 
warranty of the Improvements.   

6.   TIME EXTENSIONS 

A.  Upon a showing by the Subdivider of good cause therefor, the duration of 
the Completion Period for the Improvements (or any of them) may be extended by the City 
Engineer.  As used herein, “good cause” may include, without limitation, delay resulting 
from acts of God or force majeure, strikes, boycotts or similar job actions by employees or 
labor organizations which prevent the conduct of the work; findings made by a 
governmental entity that the site of a particular Improvement is of archeological significance; 
and, the order of any court; failure or the City to timely act; failure of third parties/agencies 
to timely issue permits or approvals; material shortages. 

B.  A time extension may be granted without notice to any surety or sureties 
of the Subdivider and shall not affect the validity of this Agreement nor release the surety or 
sureties on any bond given as an improvement security pursuant to this Agreement. 

C.  As a condition of any time extension provided for herein, the City Engineer 
may require the Subdivider to furnish new or modified improvement security guaranteeing 
performance of this Agreement, as extended, in an increased amount as necessary to 
compensate for any projected increase in the Estimated Total Cost of Improvements, as 
determined by the City Engineer. 

7.   IMPROVEMENT SECURITY 

A.  Prior to City’s execution of this Agreement, Subdivider shall provide as 
security to the City: 

1.  For Performance and Guarantee:  Security in an amount equal to 
one hundred percent (100%) of the Estimated Total Cost of the Improvements, including 
Grading, as set forth above in the Subdivision Reference Data.  The security shall be issued 
by a bonding company licensed to issue bonds in the State of California and having a Best 
rating of AAA.  With this security, the form of which shall be subject to City Attorney’s prior 
approval (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned provided the 
security is consistent with the provisions of Government Code section 66499.1 and 
66499.9), the Subdivider assures faithful performance under this Agreement and 
guarantees the Improvements for one year after the completion and acceptance of the last 



 

 -7- 
 

of such Improvements, against any defective workmanship or materials or any 
unsatisfactory performance, pursuant to Section 3 hereof.  Commencing on the Effective 
Date of Agreement, and on an annual basis thereafter, the Subdivider shall automatically 
increase the amount of such security based on consumer price index adjustments, subject 
to the provision that the City Engineer may at any time determine that a greater increase in 
the amount of security is necessary due to a greater increase in the cost of construction of 
the Improvements or any of them.  In such event, the Subdivider shall provide the additional 
security within thirty (30) days after receiving demand and explanation therefor.  The 
consumer price index adjustment shall be calculated using the Consumer Price Index for all 
Urban Consumers for the Los Angeles, Riverside, Anaheim Metropolitan Area (CPI-U) for 
the most recent 12-months ending on December 31st prior to the Effective Date of 
Agreement based on data available from the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics.    

2.  For Payment:  Security in an amount equal to one hundred percent 
(100%) of the Estimated Total Cost of the Improvements, excluding Grading, as set forth 
above in the Subdivision Reference Data.  The security shall be issued by a bonding 
company licensed to issue bonds in the State of California and having a Best rating of AAA.  
With this security, the form of which shall be subject to City Attorney’s prior approval (which 
shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned provided the security is 
consistent with the provisions of Government Code section 66499.2), the Subdivider 
guarantees payment to contractors, subcontractors, and persons renting equipment or 
furnishing labor or materials to them or to the Subdivider.  Commencing on the Effective 
Date of Agreement, and on an annual basis thereafter, the Subdivider shall automatically 
increase the amount of such security based on consumer price index adjustments, subject 
to the provision that the City Engineer may at any time determine that a greater increase in 
the amount of security is necessary due to a greater increase in the cost of construction of 
the Improvements or any of them.  In such event, the Subdivider shall provide the additional 
security within thirty (30) days after receiving demand and explanation therefor.  The 
consumer price index adjustment shall be calculated using the Consumer Price Index for all 
Urban Consumers for the Los Angeles, Riverside, Anaheim Metropolitan Area (CPI-U) for 
the most recent 12-months ending on December 31st prior to the Effective Date of 
Agreement based on data available from the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics.   

B.  If the improvement security is a corporate surety bond and, in the opinion 
of the City, any surety or sureties thereon become insufficient, because (i) the surety 
becomes insolvent; (ii) the surety's bond rating is downgraded; (iii) the surety declares 
bankruptcy; or (iv) the surety is no longer deemed to be an admitted surety in California by 
the California Department of Insurance, the Subdivider shall renew or replace any such 
surety bond with good and sufficient surety or sureties within thirty (30) days after receiving 
from City written demand therefor. 

C.  Improvement security consisting of corporate surety bonds, in a form 
accepted by the City Attorney, shall be submitted to the City Engineer and then kept on file 
with the City Clerk.  If a corporate surety bond is replaced by another approved bond, the 
replacement shall be submitted to the City Engineer and, upon filing with the City Clerk, 
shall be deemed to have been made a part of and incorporated into this Agreement. Upon 
submission to the City Engineer and then filing with the City Clerk of a replacement bond, 
the former improvement security shall be released. 



 

 -8- 
 

D.  The security furnished for the faithful performance of the Subdivider’s 
obligation to construct and install the Improvements described herein shall include the 
Subdivider’s liability and obligation hereunder to provide the one-year guarantee and 
warranty of the Improvements, and accordingly, shall not be fully released until after the City 
Engineer’s determination that the Improvements are not defective following the completion 
of the one-year warranty period. 

E.  Modifications of the Improvement Plans and related specifications, and 
modifications of the Improvements, not exceeding ten percent (10%) of the original 
Estimated Total Cost of the Improvements, shall not relieve or release any improvement 
security furnished by Subdivider pursuant to this Agreement.  If any such modifications 
exceed ten percent (10%) of the Estimated Total Cost of the Improvements, Subdivider 
shall furnish additional improvement security for performance and guarantee, and for 
payment, as required by subparagraph A above, for one hundred percent (100%) of the 
revised Estimated Total Cost of the Improvements. 

F.  Subject to any time extensions granted in accordance with Section 6 
herein, the Subdivider shall be in default if the Subdivider has not completed all 
improvements (including the complete water and sewer system) within the Completion 
Period and has not repaired any defects in the completed Improvements within the one-year 
guarantee and warranty period. 

G.  Alternatively, in the event of a default by the Subdivider pursuant to 
Section 10, and after written notice to Subdivider and reasonable opportunity to cure, City, 
at its sole option, shall have the right, without limiting any other rights and/or remedies 
available to City at law or in equity, to draw upon or utilize the improvement security 
furnished herewith to construct and install the Improvements itself.  If City exercises this 
right, the release of any unused portion of such improvement security shall be in 
accordance with the procedures outlined in Section 6 herein, including any retention 
necessary for the one-year guarantee period. 

8.  REDUCTION OR RELEASE OF IMPROVEMENT SECURITY 

A.  All public Improvements (Improvements that are to be owned or dedicated 
to the City or other public entity as distinguished from those owned by individual property 
owners, private community association, or homeowners’ association) shall be first 
completed, deemed completed by the City Engineer and then accepted as complete by the 
City Council.  All private Improvements (Improvements that are to be owned by individual 
property owners, private community association, or homeowners’ association and not 
dedicated or owned by the City or other public entity) shall be first completed and then 
accepted as complete by the City Engineer. 

B.  Partial releases or reductions in the Subdivider’s improvement 
(performance) security may be authorized prior to the City’s acceptance of all Improvements 
required hereunder in accordance with the partial release provisions of Government Code 
section 66499.7, as follows: 

1.  At the time that the Subdivider believes that the obligation to 
perform the work for which security was required is complete, the Subdivider may notify the 



 

 -9- 
 

City in writing of the completed work, including a list of work completed.  Upon receipt of the 
written notice, the City shall review and comment or approve the completion of the required 
work within ninety (90) days.  If the City does not agree that all work has been completed in 
accordance with the plans and specifications for the improvements, it shall supply a list of 
all remaining work to be completed within this 45-day period. 

2.  Within ninety (90) days of receipt of the list of remaining work from 
the City Engineer, the Subdivider may then provide cost estimates for all remaining work for 
review and approval by the City Engineer.  Upon receipt of the cost estimates, the City 
Engineer shall then have ninety (90) days to review, comment, and approve, modify, or 
disapprove those cost estimates.  The City Engineer shall not be required to engage in this 
process of partial release more than once between the start of work and completion and 
acceptance of all work; however, nothing in this section prohibits City Engineer from 
allowing for a partial release as he or she otherwise deems appropriate. 

3.  If the City Engineer approves the cost estimate, the City Engineer 
shall release all performance security except for security in an amount up to two hundred 
percent (200%) of the cost estimate of the remaining work.  The process allowing for a 
partial release of performance security shall occur when the cost estimate of the remaining 
work does not exceed 20 percent of the total original performance security unless the City 
Engineer allows for a release at an earlier time.  Substitute bonds or other security may be 
used as a replacement for the performance security, subject to the approval of the City 
Engineer.  If substitute bonds or other security is used as a replacement for the 
performance security released, the release shall not be effective unless and until the City 
Engineer receives and approves that form of replacement security.  A reduction in the 
performance security, authorized under this section, is not, and shall not be deemed to be, 
an acceptance by the City of the completed improvements, and the risk of loss or damage 
to the improvements and the obligation to maintain the improvements shall remain the sole 
responsibility of the Subdivider until all required public improvements have been accepted 
by the City and all other required improvements have been fully completed in accordance 
with the plans and specifications for the improvements. 

4.  The Subdivider shall complete the Improvements until all remaining 
items are accepted by the City. 

5.  Upon the completion of the Improvements, the Subdivider, or his or 
her assigns, shall be notified in writing by the City Engineer within thirty (30) days. 

6.  Within ninety (90) days of the issuance of the notification by the 
City Engineer, any remaining performance security, except ten percent (10%) of the original 
amount of the security to guarantee and warrant the Improvements for the one-year 
guarantee and warranty period, shall be released within thirty (30) days of the issuance of 
the written statement of completion. 

C.  Security securing the payment to the contractor, his or her subcontractors 
and to persons furnishing labor, materials or equipment shall, after passage of the time 
within which Stop Notices are required to be filed pursuant to Title 3 (commencing with 
Section 9000) of Part 6 of Division 4 of the Civil Code and after acceptance of the work, be 
reduced to an amount equal to the total claimed by all Stop Notice claimants for whom Stop 



 

 -10- 
 

Notices have been filed with the City, and if no claims have been filed, the security shall be 
released in full. 

D.  The partial release provisions of this Section 8 shall not apply to any 
required guarantee and warranty period required by Government Code Section 66499.9 for 
the guarantee or warranty nor to the amount of the security deemed necessary by the local 
agency for the guarantee and warranty period nor to costs and reasonable expenses and 
fees, including reasonable attorneys' fees.  Security furnished to guarantee and warrant the 
Improvements against any defective work or labor done or defective materials furnished, 
shall be released within thirty (30) days after the completion of the one-year period following 
completion and acceptance of all Improvements. 

E.  If Subdivider’s obligations relating to any Improvements are subject to the 
approval of another governmental agency, the City shall not release the improvement 
(performance) security therefor until the obligations are performed to the satisfaction of such 
other governmental agency.  Such agency shall have sixty (60) days after receipt of written 
notice from the Subdivider of the Subdivider’s performance of the obligation to provide the 
City with notice that it has accepted or rejected those Improvements.  If at the end of that 
period the City has not received written notice, it shall be conclusively deemed that the 
Subdivider’s performance of the obligation was not done to its satisfaction, and such 
improvement security shall be retained until such notice is received. 

F.  In the event the time periods for action by the City specified in this Section 
conflict with a shorter or longer time period for such actions as provided in Government 
Code Section 66499.7, the time periods in Government Code Section 66499.7 shall control. 

9.  INDEMNIFICATION OF CITY BY SUBDIVIDER 

A.  Neither the City, nor its officers, agents and employees, shall be liable or 
responsible for any accident, injury, loss or damage to either property or person attributable 
to or arising out of the defective design, construction, functionality, installation, assembly or 
improper maintenance, including, without limitation, the use of defective methods, materials 
and workmanship (collectively, "Subdivider's Faults"), of the Improvements by Subdivider, 
its officers, employees and agents.  Subdivider shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend 
the City, its officers, agents and employees, from and against any and all losses, claims, 
costs, expenses, liabilities, damages, actions, causes of action and judgments, including 
attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of or attributable to Subdivider’s Faults. 

B.  Subdivider’s obligations under this Section 9 are not conditioned or 
dependent upon whether the City, or its officers, agents and employees, prepared, supplied 
or reviewed any Improvement Plans or related specifications in connection with the 
Subdivision or the Improvements, or has insurance or other indemnification covering any of 
these matters. 

C.  Subdivider’s obligation to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City 
shall extend to injuries to persons and damages to or alleged taking of property resulting 
from the Subdivider's Faults, and the Improvements required herein, and shall likewise 
extend to claims asserted by adjacent property owners based upon the diversion of waters 
caused by the Subdivider’s defective design or defective construction of public drainage 



 

 -11- 
 

systems, streets, and other public facilities or improvements.  Except for a City Directive as 
defined below, the City’s acceptance of the Improvements shall not constitute an 
assumption by the City of any responsibility or liability for any damage or alleged taking of 
property referenced herein.  City shall not be responsible or liable for the design or 
construction of the Subdivision or the Improvements constructed or installed pursuant to the 
approved Improvement Plans or the Final Map, regardless of any act or omission by the 
City in approving the Improvement Plans or the Final Map, unless the particular 
Improvement design was required by the City over the written objection of the Subdivider, 
which objection stated that the Improvement design was potentially dangerous or defective 
and set forth an alternative design (a “City Directive”).  After City’s acceptance of the 
Improvements, the Subdivider shall remain obligated to correct or eliminate all dangerous 
conditions created by defects in design, construction or Subdivider’s Faults (other than 
those required by a City Directive); provided, however, that Subdivider shall not be 
responsible for routine maintenance as specified in Section 1.F of this Agreement.  
Subdivider’s indemnity obligations hereunder shall remain in effect for ten (10) years 
following acceptance of the respective Improvement(s) by the City Council.  Subdivider 
acknowledges and agrees that Subdivider shall be responsible and liable for the 
Subdivider's Faults with respect to the Improvements and other work done pursuant to this 
Agreement, unless same is due to a City Directive.  City shall not be liable for any acts or 
omissions in approving, reviewing, checking, correcting or modifying any Improvement 
Plans or related specifications, or in inspecting, reviewing or approving any work or 
construction of Improvements, unless same is due to a City Directive.  The Subdivider’s 
improvement security shall not be required to secure the Subdivider’s obligations under this 
subparagraph C beyond the one-year guarantee and warranty period.    

D.  Subdivider shall pay and satisfy any judgment, award or decree that may 
be rendered against City, its officers, officials, employees, agents, representatives and 
volunteers (collectively hereinafter “Indemnitees”) to the extent of the indemnity provided 
above, in any such suit, action, or other legal proceeding, provided City gives Subdivider 
prompt written notice of such claim and allows Subdivider to undertake the defense thereof. 

E.  Subdivider’s obligation to indemnify shall not be restricted to Insurance 
proceeds, if any, received by the Indemnitees. 

F.  Subdivider, on behalf of itself and all parties claiming under or through it, 
hereby waives all rights of subrogation and contribution against the Indemnitees to the 
extent of the indemnity above provided. 

10. INSURANCE 

A.  The following coverages will be provided by Subdivider and maintained on 
behalf of City and in accordance with the requirements set forth herein.  If Subdivider 
performs construction activities through a general contractor, some or all of these insurance 
requirements for the period of construction may be satisfied by the general contractor’s 
insurance coverages.  In such case, Subdivider shall maintain during this same construction 
period, and after the construction period, the coverages shown below as “Insurance After 
Construction.”  In addition, Subdivider may elect to obtain, for all or any portion of the 
Project, an “Owner-Controlled Wrap Up” insurance policy in satisfaction of the insurance 
requirements for general contractors and subcontractors provided it satisfies all of the 



 

 -12- 
 

insurance requirements below for general contractors and subcontractors.  Throughout 
these specifications, the word “Subdivider” refers to the Party responsible to provide the 
coverages as specified and, depending on context, may refer either to Subdivider or to a 
separate General Contractor. 

B.  Insurance During Construction 

Subdivider shall provide the following insurance during construction of the Improvements.  
Insurance requirements may be met through insurance provided by Subdivider’s General 
Contractor: 

1.  Commercial General Liability Insurance 

Commercial General Liability Insurance (primary) shall be provided on ISO-CGL Form No. 
CG 00 01 or equivalent coverage, including provisions for defense of additional insureds.  
Policy limits shall be no less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence for all 
coverages and two million dollars ($2,000,000) general aggregate.  City and its officers, 
employees and agents shall be added as additional insureds using ISO Form CG 20 10 11 
85 or other revision of the CG 20 10 form if available from the insurer and reasonably 
acceptable to the City, not limiting coverage for the additional insured to “ongoing 
operations” or in any way excluding coverage for completed operations.  Coverage shall 
apply on a primary non-contributing basis in relation to any other insurance or self-
insurance, primary or excess, available to City or any officer, employee or agent of City. 
Coverage shall not be limited to the vicarious liability or supervisory role of any additional 
insured.  Coverage shall contain no contractors’ limitation or other endorsement limiting the 
scope of coverage for liability arising from pollution, explosion, collapse, or underground 
property damage. 

2.  Umbrella Liability Insurance 

Umbrella Liability Insurance (or, at Subdivider’s election, Excess Liability Insurance) (over 
primary) shall apply to bodily injury/property damage, personal injury/advertising injury, at a 
minimum.  Coverage shall be at least as broad as any underlying coverage. Coverage shall 
be provided on a “pay on behalf” basis.  There shall be no cross liability exclusion and no 
contractor’s limitation endorsement.  Policy limits shall be not less than fifteen million dollars 
($15,000,000) per occurrence and in the aggregate, including any limits required in the 
underlying policies.  The policy shall have a starting date no later than and an ending date 
no earlier than those of the underlying coverages.  The Named Insured (Subdivider or 
General Contractor as appropriate) may determine the layering of primary and excess 
liability insurance provided that if such layering differs from that described here, the actual 
coverage program meets the minimum total required limits and complies with all other 
requirements listed here. 

3.  Business Auto Coverage 

Business Auto Coverage shall be written on ISO Business Auto Coverage Form CA 00 01 
or the equivalent, including symbol (1) (any Auto).  If Subdivider (or Contractor) does not 
own any vehicles, this requirement may be satisfied by a non-owned vehicle endorsement 
to the general and umbrella liability policies. Limits shall be no less than one million dollars 



 

 -13- 
 

per accident.  This policy shall be scheduled as underlying insurance to the umbrella policy 
required above for a total limit of no less than twenty million dollars ($20,000,000) each 
accident. 

4.  Workers’ Compensation/Employer’s Liability 

Workers’ Compensation/Employer’s Liability shall provide workers’ compensation statutory 
benefits as required by law.  Employer’s liability limits shall be no less than one million 
dollars ($1,000,000) per accident or disease.  Employer’s liability coverage shall be 
scheduled under the umbrella or excess liability policy described above.  This policy shall 
be endorsed to waive any right of subrogation with respect to City, its officers, employees or 
agents. 

5.  Builder’s Risk Insurance 

Builder’s Risk Insurance covering all real and personal property for “all risks” of loss or 
“comprehensive perils” coverage including but not limited to the perils of earth movement, 
including earthquake (if required by Subdivider’s lender or if available at commercially 
reasonable rates) and flood for all Improvements. 

C.  Insurance After Construction 

Upon completion of construction of the Improvements, and for the required guarantee and 
warranty period (unless such longer period of time is specified herein), Subdivider at 
Subdivider’s expense shall maintain or cause to be maintained the following insurance: 

1.  Commercial Property Insurance 

Commercial Property Insurance covering the Improvements.  Coverage shall be at least as 
broad as the Insurance Services Offices broad causes of loss form CP 10 20, and 
reasonably approved of in writing by the City.  Coverage shall be sufficient to insure 100% 
of the replacement value and there shall be no coinsurance provisions.  The policy shall 
include an inflation guard endorsement, 100% rents coverage, contents coverage, coverage 
for personal property of others, ordinance or law and increased cost of construction 
coverage. Subdivider also agrees to provide builder’s all-risk insurance using an inland 
marine form during the period of any major alteration or improvement, using the broadest 
form available. 

The insurance coverage for the peril of earthquake required for this project is subject to 
availability on the open market at commercially reasonable premium cost, as determined by 
mutual agreement between Subdivider and City.  If such earthquake insurance coverage 
should, after diligent effort be Subdivider, be unobtainable at such mutually determined 
commercially reasonable premium cost, then Subdivider shall obtain the maximum 
insurance reasonably obtainable at commercially reasonable premium cost (if any) and give 
notice to City of the extent of Subdivider’s inability to obtain, in full, the required insurance, 
and in such event, Subdivider’s obligation to procure and maintain such insurance shall be 
excused.  Subdivider and City agree that a premium cost of earthquake insurance coverage 
of up to 150% of the premium cost paid by Subdivider for such coverage on the Effective 
Date (to be adjusted over time based on the Consumer Price Index,) shall constitute a 



 

 -14- 
 

commercially reasonable premium cost.  Non-availability at commercially reasonable 
premium cost must be documented by a letter from Subdivider’s insurance broker or agent 
indicating a good faith effort to place the required insurance and showing, at a minimum, the 
names of the insurance carriers and the declinations or quotations received from each. 

2.  Commercial General Liability Insurance 

Commercial General Liability Insurance (primary) shall be provided on ISO-CGL form No. 
CG 00 01 or equivalent coverage, including provisions for defense of additional insureds.  
Policy limits shall be no less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence for all 
coverages and two million dollars ($2,000,000) general aggregate. City and its officers, 
employees and agents shall be added as additional insureds using ISO form CG 20 10 or 
equivalent if available from the insurer and reasonably acceptable to the City.  Coverage 
shall apply on a primary non-contributing basis in relation to any other insurance or self-
insurance, primary or excess, available to City or any officer, employee or agent of City. 

3.  Umbrella Liability Insurance 

Umbrella Liability Insurance (or, at Subdivider’s election, Excess Liability Insurance) (over 
primary) shall apply to bodily injury/property damage, personal injury/advertising injury, at a 
minimum.  Coverage shall be at least as broad as any underlying coverage. Coverage shall 
be provided on a “pay on behalf” basis.  There shall be no cross liability exclusion.  Policy 
limits shall be not less than fifteen million dollars ($15,000,000) per occurrence and in the 
aggregate, including any limits required in the underlying policies.  The policy shall have a 
starting date no later than and an ending date no earlier than those of the underlying 
coverages.  Subdivider may determine the layering of primary and excess liability insurance 
provided that if such layering differs from that described here, the actual coverage program 
meets the minimum total required limits. 

4.  Workers Compensation Insurance 

Workers’ Compensation/Employer’s Liability shall provide workers’ compensation statutory 
benefits as required by law.  Employer’s liability limits shall be no less than one million 
dollars per accident or disease.  Employer’s liability coverage shall be scheduled under any 
umbrella or excess liability policy described above.  Unless otherwise agreed, this policy 
shall be endorsed to waive any right of subrogation as respects City, its employees or 
agents. 

5.  Business Auto Coverage 

Business Auto Coverage for vehicles owned, operated or maintained in any way connected 
with the project, shall be written on ISO Business Auto Coverage form CA 00 01 or the 
equivalent, including symbol (1) (any Auto).  If Subdivider (or Contractor) does not own any 
vehicles, this requirement may be satisfied by a non-owned vehicle endorsement to the 
general and umbrella liability policies.  Limits shall be no less than one million dollars 
($1,000,000) per accident.  This policy shall be scheduled as underlying insurance to the 
umbrella or excess liability policy required above for a total limit of no less than fifteen 
million dollars ($15,000,000) each accident. 



 

 -15- 
 

D.  Provisions Pertaining to Insurance Provided by Subdivider 

1.  All insurance coverage and limits provided pursuant to this 
Agreement shall apply to the full extent of the policies involved, available or applicable.  
Nothing contained in this Agreement or any other agreement relating to City or its 
operations limits the application of such insurance coverage. 

2.  Requirements of specific coverage features or limits contained in 
this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits or other requirements, or a 
waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance.  Specific reference to a given 
coverage feature is for purposes of clarification only and is not intended by any Party to be 
all inclusive, or to the exclusion of other coverage, or a waiver of any type. 

3.  All general or auto liability insurance coverage provided pursuant to 
this Agreement, or any other agreements pertaining to the performance of this Agreement, 
shall not prohibit Subdivider, and Subdivider’s employees, or agents, from waiving the right 
of subrogation prior to a loss.  Subdivider waives its right of subrogation against City. 

4.  None of the policies required herein shall be in compliance with 
these requirements if they include any limiting endorsement that has not been first 
submitted to City and approved in writing by the City. 

5.  Unless otherwise approved by City, Subdivider’s insurance and 
insurance provided by any contractor or subcontractor relating to the construction of the 
Improvements shall be written by insurers authorized to do business in the State of 
California and with a minimum “Best’s” Insurance Guide rating of at least “A-:VII.”  Self-
insurance will not comply with these insurance specifications unless expressly approved in 
writing by the City. 

6.  In the event any policy of insurance required under this Agreement 
does not comply with these requirements and Subdivider does not cure the non-compliance 
within thirty (30) days after written notice from City (or Subdivider does not provide 
reasonable evidence of such cure within such period), or if the insurance is canceled and 
not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary 
and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Subdivider. 

7.  Subdivider agrees to provide evidence of the insurance required 
herein, satisfactory to City, consisting of certificate(s) of insurance evidencing all of the 
coverages required and an additional insured endorsement to Subdivider’s general liability 
and umbrella liability policies using ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85.  Certificate(s) are to reflect 
that the insurer will provide 30 days notice of any cancellation of coverage and policies are 
to have a “cancellation endorsement” to the same effect.  Subdivider agrees to provide 
copies of any endorsements modifying coverage in any way upon request from City. 

8.  Subdivider shall provide proof that policies of insurance required 
herein expiring during the term of this Agreement have been renewed or replaced with other 
policies providing at least the same coverage. 



 

 -16- 
 

9.  Any actual or alleged failure on the part of City or any other 
additional insured under these requirements to obtain proof of insurance required under this 
Agreement in no way waives any right or remedy of City or any additional insured, in this or 
any other regard. 

10. Subdivider agrees to require the general contractor hired for this 
project to construct the Improvements to purchase and maintain insurance for commercial 
general liability (minimum limit one million dollars [$1,000,000] per occurrence), automobile 
liability (one million dollars [$1,000,000] per accident) and workers’ compensation (statutory 
benefits), and to include within the insurance an additional insured endorsement for all 
subcontractors  If the work is to be completed in phases, then prior to the issuance of the 
Certificate of Completion for each phase, Subdivider shall, upon request by City, provide the 
City with copies of all insurance certificates and endorsements related to such phase. 

11.  Subdivider agrees to monitor and review all coverage required by 
this Section and assumes all responsibility for ensuring that such coverage is provided as 
required here. Subdivider agrees to obtain certificates evidencing such coverage.  
Subdivider agrees that upon request, all agreements with subcontractors or others with 
whom Subdivider contracts with on behalf of City, and all certificates of insurance obtained 
in compliance with this paragraph will be submitted to City for review upon request by City.  
Failure of City to request copies of such documents will not impose any liability on City, or 
its employees. 

12.  Subdivider agrees to require that no contract used by any general 
contractor or subcontractor in connection with construction of the Improvements, or 
contracts Subdivider enters into on behalf of City, will reserve the right to charge back to 
City the cost of insurance required by this Agreement. 

13.  Where appropriate (such as in the case of automobile insurance 
coverages), coverage will not be limited to the specific Subdivision location. 

14.  Subdivider agrees to provide notice to City of any claim or loss 
against Subdivider that includes City as a defendant promptly after Subdivider receives 
written notice or obtains knowledge thereof.  City assumes no obligation or liability by such 
notice, but has the right (but not the duty) to monitor the handling of any such claim or 
claims if they are likely to involve City.  City agrees to provide similar notice to Subdivider of 
any such claims it is notified of respecting the Property. 

15.  Subdivider agrees not to attempt to avoid its defense and 
indemnity obligations to City, and its officers, employees, agents by using as a defense 
Subdivider’s statutory immunity under workers’ compensation and similar statutes. 

16.  Subdivider agrees to ensure that coverage provided to meet these 
requirements is applicable separately to each insured and that there will be no cross liability 
exclusions that preclude coverage for suits between Subdivider and City or between City 
and any other insured or Named Insured under the policy, or between City and any Party 
associated with City or its employees. 



 

 -17- 
 

17.  If Subdivider or any contractor or subcontractor is a Limited 
Liability Company, general liability coverage must apply so that the Limited Liability 
Company and its Managers, Members, Affiliates, and their employees are insureds. 

18.  Subdivider shall require General Contractor to maintain 
commercial general liability, and if necessary, commercial umbrella liability insurance with a 
limit of not less than fifteen million dollars ($15,000,000) for each occurrence, until the 
warranty period specified in this Agreement expires. 

19.  Subdivider agrees to obtain and provide to City evidence of 
professional liability coverage for Architects, Engineers or other design professionals 
working on the Improvements.  The limit of liability required is subject to City approval, but 
in no event to be less than $1 million per claim and in the aggregate, and Subdivider shall 
use reasonable efforts to require and cause such professionals to maintain coverage such 
coverage with respect to each occurrence for at least three years following substantial 
completion of the work and, in the event Subdivider is unable to do so, Subdivider shall 
promptly inform the City of the scope of such efforts and the reasons that it was unable to 
do so.  If Subdivider requests that the City approve a lower limit for any particular design 
professional Subdivider seeks to employ on the Improvements, City will evaluate each such 
request based on City’s perception of liability exposure associated with the work that would 
be performed by that design professional. 

20.  To the extent a particular coverage or policy form or specification 
is not reasonably available from Subdivider's insurer or would result in an additional 
premium that is extraordinary or unreasonably disproportionate to the premium for the 
policy as a whole, then Subdivider shall provide substantially similar coverage reasonably 
acceptable to City for which the cost is not extraordinary or unreasonably disproportionate. 

11.  OWNERSHIP OF THE IMPROVEMENTS 

A.  Ownership of all or any category of the Improvements constructed and 
installed by the Subdivider pursuant to this Agreement and shown on the Map to be 
dedicated to the public shall vest, as applicable, in the City (or other specified governmental 
agency) upon acceptance of said Improvements by the City Council (or other specified 
governmental agency).  The acceptance of the Improvements shall either be shown by a 
certificate on the Final Map or by subsequent resolution accepting the Improvements 
adopted by the City Council pursuant to Government Code Section 66477.2 and recorded 
with the County Recorder. 

B.  The Subdivider shall at all times prior to the acceptance of the 
Improvements by the City, give good and adequate warning to the public of each and every 
dangerous and defective condition caused by the construction of the Improvements and 
shall take all steps necessary to protect the public from such dangerous or defective 
conditions.  The Subdivider agrees and understands that until acceptance of the 
Improvements by the City, each Improvement and Improvement area that is offered for 
dedication shall be under the charge of the Subdivider, and the Subdivider may close all or 
a portion of any street or area whenever necessary to protect the public during the 
construction of the Improvements. 



 

 -18- 
 

12.  DEFAULT AND BREACH BY THE SUBDIVIDER AND REMEDIES OF THE 
CITY 

A.  Upon the occurrence of any of the following events, the Subdivider shall 
be deemed to be in default under this Agreement: 

1.  Subject to any time extensions granted in accordance with Section 
4, failure to complete construction and installation of the Improvements or any of them by 
the completion date set forth above in the Subdivision Reference Data; 

2.  Failure to promptly correct or cure any defect in the Improvements 
or any of them during the one-year guarantee and warranty period as required by Section 
3.A or failure to commence correction or cure of any such defect or failure to diligently 
prosecute same to completion, in each instance following receipt by Subdivider of written 
notice that such defect exists; 

3.  Subject to any time extensions granted in accordance with Section 
4, failure to perform substantial construction work of the Improvements or any of them, after 
commencement of work on same, for a period of thirty (30) days after Subdivider’s receipt 
of written notice thereof from the City; 

4.  Insolvency, appointment of a receiver, or the filing of any petition in 
bankruptcy, whether voluntary or involuntary, and such is not cured or discharged within a 
period of thirty (30) days; 

5.  Commencement of a foreclosure action against the Subdivision or 
any portion thereof, or any conveyance by the Subdivider in lieu or in avoidance of 
foreclosure, within thirty (30) days after receipt by Subdivider of written notice thereof from 
the City; or 

6.  Failure to perform any other obligations in accordance with the 
terms and provisions of this Agreement within thirty (30) days after receipt by Subdivider of 
written notice thereof from the City. 

B.  City reserves to itself all remedies available to it at law or in equity for any 
breach of Subdivider’s obligations under this Agreement.  City shall have the right, without 
limitation of other rights or remedies, after written notice to Subdivider and a reasonable 
opportunity for Subdivider to cure any such alleged default, to draw upon or utilize any 
improvement security furnished hereunder to complete the Improvements or otherwise 
mitigate City’s damages in the event of Subdivider’s default. 

C.  Following Subdivider’s receipt of written notice of alleged default and 
failure by Subdivider to promptly commence the cure of any alleged default and to diligently 
prosecute such cure to completion, the City may serve written notice of any such default 
upon the surety on any corporate surety bond furnished as improvement security 
hereunder, and request that said surety take over and complete the Improvements herein 
specified.  If such surety, within thirty (30) days after service of such notice of default, does 
not give the City written notice of its intention to perform this Agreement, or does not 
commence such performance within thirty (30) days after notice to the City of such intention 



 

 -19- 
 

to perform, the City may take over the work and prosecute the same to completion, by 
contract or by any other method the City deems advisable, for the account and at the 
expense of the Subdivider and its surety. 

D.  Subdivider acknowledges that the Estimated Total Costs and 
improvement security amounts set forth herein may not reflect the actual cost of 
construction or installation of the Improvements, and, consequently, City’s damages for 
Subdivider’s default shall be measured by the actual cost of completing the required 
Improvements.  If the damages incurred by the City in taking over and completing the 
Improvements exceeds the principal amount of the improvement security, then the 
Subdivider shall reimburse the City in the amount of such excess damages. 

E.  Following Subdivider’s receipt of written notice of alleged default and 
failure by Subdivider to promptly commence the cure of any alleged default and to diligently 
prosecute such cure to completion, City may, without liability for so doing, take possession 
of, and utilize in completing the Improvements, such materials, appliances, plant and other 
property belonging to Subdivider as may be on the site of the work and necessary for the 
performance of the work.  Subdivider hereby consents to such entry by the City and its 
representatives, including contractors, upon any real property in the Subdivision owned by 
Subdivider or by any assignee of this Agreement, in the event the City elects to maintain or 
complete the work on the Improvements following Subdivider’s default. 

F.  Subdivider acknowledges and agrees that, upon approval of the Final Map 
for the Subdivision, City will confer substantial rights upon the Subdivider, including the right 
to sell, lease or finance lots within the Subdivision, and that such approval constitutes the 
final act necessary to permit the division of land within the Subdivision.  As a result, City will 
be damaged to the extent of the cost of construction or installation of the Improvements 
upon Subdivider’s failure to perform its obligations under this Agreement, which failure is 
not promptly remedied by sureties or by Subdivider. 

G.  The City’s failure to take an enforcement action with respect to a default, 
or to declare a default or breach, shall not be construed as a waiver of that default or breach 
or any subsequent default or breach of the Subdivider. 

H.  If City sues to compel Subdivider’s performance of this Agreement, or to 
recover damages or costs incurred in completing or maintaining the work on the 
Improvements, Subdivider agrees to pay all attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses 
of litigation incurred by the City in connection therewith, even if Subdivider subsequently 
resumes and completes the work. 

13.  RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES 

Neither Subdivider, nor any of Subdivider’s contractors, employees or agents, are or shall 
be deemed to be, agents of the City in connection with the performance of Subdivider’s 
obligations under this Agreement. 

14.  ASSIGNMENT 



 

 -20- 
 

A.  Subdivider shall not assign this Agreement, or any portion thereof without 
the prior written consent of the City.  Any attempted or purported assignment in violation of 
this subparagraph A shall be null and void and shall have no force or effect. 

B.  The sale or other disposition of the Subdivision shall not relieve 
Subdivider of its obligations hereunder.  If Subdivider intends to sell the Subdivision, or any 
portion thereof (except for the sale of individual lots with homes to individual purchasers) to 
any other person or entity, the Subdivider may request a novation of this Agreement and a 
substitution of improvement security.  Upon the City’s approval of the novation and 
substitution of improvement security, the Subdivider may request a release or reduction of 
the improvement security furnished pursuant to this Agreement. 

15. NOTICES 

All notices required or provided for in this Agreement shall be in writing and delivered 
in person or by mail, postage prepaid, and addressed as follows: 

If to the City:  City Engineer 
City of Brea 
1 Civic Center Circle 
Brea, California 92821 

If to the Subdivider: To the address set forth above in the Subdivision 
Reference Data, or to such other address as may 
subsequently be designated in written notice to the City. 

Notice shall be effective on the date that it is delivered in person, or, if mailed, three (3) 
days after the date of deposit in the United States Mail. 

16.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties with respect to its 
subject matter.  All modifications, amendments, or waivers of any terms of this Agreement 
shall be in writing and signed by the duly authorized representatives of the parties.  In the 
case of the City, the duly authorized representative, unless otherwise specified herein, shall 
be the City Engineer. 

17. BINDING ON SUCCESSORS 

The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall have full force and 
effect as to, any and all successors in interest, heirs, and assigns of Subdivider. 

18.  SEVERABILITY 

The provisions of this Agreement are severable.  If any portion of this Agreement is 
held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Agreement shall 
remain in full force and effect. 

19.  INCORPORATION OF SUBDIVISION REFERENCE DATA AND RECITALS 



 

 -21- 
 

The Subdivision Reference Data and the Recitals are incorporated into, and made a 
part of, this Agreement. 

 

20.  GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE 

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  Venue for 
any legal action arising out of this Agreement shall be any competent court in the County of 
Orange, California. 

21.  EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement shall be and become effective as of the date that it is executed by a 
duly authorized officer or employee of the City, it being the intention of the parties that the 
Subdivider shall first execute this Agreement and thereafter submit it to the City.  The City 
shall insert the effective date in the Subdivision Reference Data in all counterparts of this 
Agreement and shall transmit a fully executed counterpart to the Subdivider. 
 
 

SIGNATURES BEGIN ON NEXT PAGE  



 

 -22- 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to 
be executed by their respective officers, thereunto duly authorized, as of the dates set forth 
below their respective signatures. 

[Note: All signatures must be 
acknowledged by a notary public and the 
acknowledgement must be attached.  If 
signed by a Corporation, the signatures of 
the chairperson of the board, the president 
or any vice president and the secretary, any 
assistant secretary, the chief financial 
officer or any assistant treasurer, are 
required, unless a resolution of the 
Corporation’s Board of Directors is provided 
indicating that the signature of the one 
signatory is sufficient to bind the 
Corporation. If signed by any other entity, 
proof of the signer’s authority to bind the 
entity must be provided.] 

“SUBDIVIDER” 

The Retail Property Trust, a Massachusetts 
business trust   
(Type or print exact name of person or 
business entity) 
 
By:   

(Signature of authorized officer) 
 

   
(Type or print name of authorized officer) 
 

   
(Title of authorized officer) 

Date:   

 
By:   

(Signature of authorized officer) 
 

   
(Type or print name of authorized officer) 
 

   
(Title of authorized officer) 

Date:   

 

“CITY” 
 
CITY OF BREA 

 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
   
CITY CLERK 

 
 
   
MAYOR 
 
(SEAL) 

 




























	FinanceCommittee-2025-05-13
	Item 2A. 
	Finance-Committee-04-29-2025-minutesdraft
	Item 3A. 
	Attachment A - Location Map
	Attachment B - Final Parcel Map 2022-179
	Attachment C - Subdivision Monument Bond
	Item 3B. 
	Attachment A - Location Map
	Attachment B - Final Parcel Map 2022-113
	Attachment C - Subdivision Improvement Agreement

